

LUND UNIVERSITY

Improved cancer survival with use of common antihistamines. Epidemiological studies on the use of H1-antihistamines and survival in cancer.

Fritz, Ildikó

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Fritz, I. (2020). Improved cancer survival with use of common antihistamines. Epidemiological studies on the use of H1-antihistamines and survival in cancer. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Improved cancer survival with use of common antihistamines

Epidemiological studies on the use of H1-antihistamines and survival in cancer

ILDIKÓ FRITZ FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





About the author

Ildikó Fritz is a molecular biologist with a licentiate degree in medical science and a cross-disciplinary background of studies that includes cognitive linguistics and cult fiction, as well as different areas (more or less) related to cancer biology. Ildikó finds writing about theirself in the third person odd, likes travel, creative writing and subverting the rule of three, and lives on the outskirts of Lund with their family. This doctoral dissertation is the result of their last three years of work at the Department of Cancer Epidemiology at Lund University.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:87 ISBN 978-91-7619-949-7 ISSN 1652-8220



Improved cancer survival with use of common antihistamines

Improved cancer survival with use of common antihistamines

Epidemiological studies on the use of H₁antihistamines and survival in cancer

Ildikó Fritz



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at 1 pm on September 11th, 2020 in Segerfalksalen at BMC.

> Faculty opponent Olle Larkö

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name: Doctoral dissertation
	Date of issue: September 11 th , 2020
Author: Ildikó Fritz	Sponsoring organization: N/A
The second contracted as	·

Title and subtitle:

Improved cancer survival with use of common antihistamines – epidemiological studies on the use of H₁-antihistamines and survival in cancer

Abstract:

Cancer often results from chronic inflammation, and anti-inflammatory medications are therefore potential candidates for drug repurposing for cancer therapy. H₂-antihistamines such as cimetidine have long been studied for their promise as cancer medications, but H₁-antihistamines have thus far not been studied widely for this purpose. We have previously shown an association with improved breast cancer survival for use of some H₁-antihistamines, and other studies have shown similar results for non-localized cancer, non-small cell lung cancer and ovarian cancer, while evidence is mounting that some H₁-antihistamines normally used to alleviate allergic reactions may also have antitumor effects. In the four studies that form the basis of this dissertation, we show that some of the most commonly used H₁-antihistamines in Sweden – desloratadine and loratadine – are associated with substantially improved survival for patients with melanoma (Study I), breast cancer (Study II) as well as several other immunogenic tumor types (Study III) and quantify the potential effect of a desloratadine intervention, showing that numerous lives may be spared should desloratadine be integrated into cancer therapy (Study IV). We suggest a desloratadine effect as the explanation of our findings, one that is likely immunological in nature, and call for randomized clinical trials of desloratadine as treatment of immunogenic cancers, and if effective, further studies to quantify and elucidate the mechanism.

Key words: epidemiology; histamine H1 antagonists; histamine antagonists; chemotherapy; immunotherapy.			
Classification system and/or index terms (if any): N/A			
Supplementary bibliographical information: N/A		Language: English	
ISSN 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-949-7	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 65	Price: N/A	
	Security classification: N/A		

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

)

Date 2020-08-10

Improved cancer survival with use of common antihistamines

Epidemiological studies on the use of H₁antihistamines and survival in cancer

Ildikó Fritz



Front cover photo, of desloratadine tablets on a rock at Brännö, by Marcus Fritz. Author photo on back cover by Hedvig Christensen.

Pages 1-65 © Ildikó Fritz

Paper I © 2020 John Wiley & Sons A/S.

Paper II © 2020 The Authors, distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License.

Paper III © by the Authors

Paper IV © by the Authors

Supervisor: Professor Håkan Olsson Co-supervisors: Per Broberg and Philippe Wagner

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:87

ISBN 978-91-7619-949-7 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN For the two loves of my life, Gusti and Marcus.

"You start a question, and it's like starting a stone. You sit quietly on the top of a hill; and away the stone goes, starting others," *Mr Enfield, in* Strange Case of Dr Jekyll and Mr Hyde, *by Robert Louis Stevenson*

"I have never tried that before, so I think I should definitely be able to do that," *falsely attributed to Pippi Longstocking by Astrid Lindgren, actual source unknown*

"I'm sciencing as fast as I can!" - Professor Farnsworth, Futurama

Preface

As I write this in Copenhagen, where Swedes like me have just recently been allowed to enter, at the end of the serendipitous and far from straightforward road that led to this dissertation, the very air seems rife with symbolism for this former literature student. I shall endeavor to steer clear of the very lowest hanging fruits, despite the siren call for someone of my proclivities, and be content with acknowledging the strangeness of the times and the path that led here, and to note the enormous privilege inherent in an occupation where I can write a dissertation from the comfort and safety of (mostly) my own home during a global pandemic. My current situation, which is both stressful and privileged, is a (perhaps halting) metaphor for the duality this dissertation derives from: histamine has a dual role in cancer, and thus some antihistamines are associated with improved survival in several immunogenic cancers, and may have an application in cancer therapy.

Copenhagen, August 1st, 2020

Contents

Preface
List of papers
Additional peer-reviewed papers not included in the dissertation
Abstract
Abbreviations
Introduction
Drug repurposing for cancer therapy21
Cancer and inflammation21
Histamine and its dual role in cancer
Antihistamines
Mast cells – Jekyll and Hyde in cancer
Tumor immunogenicity and immune checkpoints
T helper cells in cancer and allergy26
Allergy and cancer
Antihistamines and cancer risk27
H ₁ -antihistamines as cancer therapy28
Aims and approach in Studies I-IV
Methodology
Registers and data
Definitions, classifications and variables
Statistical analyses
Methodological advantages and limitations
Results
Initial results
Study I
Study II
Study III
Study IV

Discussion	
The case for an antihistamine effect	
The proposed antihistamine effect	
An immunological mechanism?	45
An immodest proposal	
Conclusions	
Future perspectives	
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)	50
Acknowledgments	
References	55

List of papers

This dissertation is based on the following four papers, referred to in the text as Papers I-IV and included in full at the end.

- I. Fritz I, Wagner P, Bottai M, Eriksson H, Ingvar C, Krakowski I, Nielsen K, Olsson H. Desloratadine and loratadine use associated with improved melanoma survival. *Allergy* 2020.
- **II.** Fritz I, Wagner P, Broberg P, Einefors R, Olsson H. Desloratadine and loratadine stand out among common H₁-antihistamines for association with improved breast cancer survival. *Acta Oncologica* 2020.
- **III.** Fritz I, Wagner P, Olsson H. Improved survival in tumors that respond to immune checkpoint therapy with use of H₁-antihistamines desloratadine and loratadine. *Submitted manuscript*.
- IV. Fritz I, Wagner P, Olsson H. Quantifying the potential effect of desloratadine in cancer therapy. *Manuscript*.

Additional peer-reviewed papers not included in the dissertation

Fritz I, Olsson H. Lung cancer in young women in southern Sweden: a descriptive study. *Clinical Respiratory Journal* 2018.

Helgadottir H, Isaksson K, Fritz I, Ingvar C, Lapins J, Höiom V, Newton-Bishop J, Olsson H. Multiple primary melanoma incidence trends over five decades, a nation-wide population-based study. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2020.

Abstract

Cancer often results from chronic inflammation, and anti-inflammatory medications are therefore potential candidates for drug repurposing for cancer therapy. H₂-antihistamines such as cimetidine have long been studied for their promise as cancer medications, but H₁-antihistamines have thus far not been studied widely for this purpose. We have previously shown an association with improved breast cancer survival for use of some H₁-antihistamines, and other studies have shown similar results for non-localized cancer, non-small cell lung cancer and ovarian cancer, while evidence is mounting that some H₁antihistamines normally used to alleviate allergic reactions may also have anti-tumor effects. In the four studies that form the basis of this dissertation, we show that some of the most commonly used H₁antihistamines in Sweden – desloratadine and loratadine – are associated with substantially improved survival for patients with melanoma (Study I), breast cancer (Study II) as well as several other immunogenic tumor types (Study III) and guantify the potential effect of a desloratadine intervention, showing that numerous lives may be spared should desloratadine be integrated into cancer therapy (Study IV). We suggest a desloratadine effect as the explanation of our findings, one that is likely immunological in nature, and call for randomized clinical trials of desloratadine as treatment of immunogenic cancers, and if effective, further studies to quantify and elucidate the mechanism.

Abbreviations

AML	acute myeloid leukemia
СММ	cutaneous malignant melanoma
CNS	central nervous system
CTCL	cutaneous T cell lymphoma
CTLA-4	cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4
DDD	defined daily dose
ER	estrogen receptor
lgE	immunoglobulin class E
MCL	mantle cell lymphoma
NHL	non-Hodgkin lymphoma
NSCLC	non-small cell lung cancer
PD-1	programmed cell death protein 1
PDR	the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register
SCR	the Swedish Cancer Register
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
SweMR	the Swedish Melanoma Register
Th	T helper
Th1	type 1 T helper
Th2	type 2 T helper

Introduction

Drug repurposing for cancer therapy

Cancer is the second leading cause of death globally, with annual cancer deaths nearing 10 million (1). The leading cause of cancer death is lung cancer, followed by colorectal, gastric, liver, breast, esophagus and pancreatic cancer (1). Cancer therapy options can be severely limited depending on tumor type or subtype, and there is always a need for new and improved anti-cancer medication, especially for malignancies with dismal prognoses like pancreatic cancer (2). Repurposing of existing medication is a way to meet that need in a both time- and cost-effective manner (3, 4), and due to the similarities between the inflammatory and tumorigenic processes, anti-inflammatory medications are a promising place to start the search for cancer therapeutics among existing drugs (5).

Cancer and inflammation

A possible link between cancer and inflammation was first shown in 1863, and since then, the similarities between the tumorigenic and inflammatory processes have been extensively mapped (6-8). Chronic inflammation, like cancer, is characterized by factors such as increased angiogenesis and inhibition of apoptosis, making the inflammatory microenvironment a tumorigenic microenvironment, favorable for the development of several types of tumors (7-9). Indeed, several inflammatory states, such as hepatitis, pancreatitis and inflammatory bowel disease, caused by infections, exposures and autoimmune diseases, have been shown to cause cancers in various organs (7, 10, 11). Both chronic inflammation and cancer are also associated with exhausted T cells (12).

Hanahan and Coussens describe "both classic inflammation and more subtle involvement of immune cells in the tumor microenvironment" (9) and Dvorak has characterized tumors as "wounds that do not heal", due to the similarities between tumor development and the wound-healing inflammatory response (6). However, while some have raised the question of inflammation as an immune response to tumor presence by the host, most of the evidence seems to be in favor of inflammation as a consequence of oncogenetic mutations, and a process needed for tumor progression (10, 13). While the link between chronic inflammation and cancer is relatively straightforward, the role of specific mediators involved in the inflammatory response, like histamine, in tumorigenesis and cancer progression is anything but (14).

Histamine and its dual role in cancer

Histamine (Figure 1), an endogenous biogenic amine, was discovered more than one hundred years ago, and has been known to be involved in allergy and the inflammatory response for almost as long (15, 16). Histamine is synthesized from histidine by the enzyme histidine decarboxylase and stored in cytoplasmic granules in mainly mast cells and released when the cells are degranulated. Histamine can also be synthesized de novo at inflammatory sites by various cells, without being stored in granules. Histamine is present in all mammalian tissues, and found in high concentrations in the skin, connective tissue, lungs and much of the gastrointestinal tract. It acts as a neurotransmitter in the nervous system, as well as a local mediator in the skin, gut and immune system, by binding to four known types of receptors, histamine receptors H₁, H_2 , H_3 and H_4 , all of which are G-protein coupled receptors. (6, 7, 15-19) The histamine receptors, like some other members of the G-protein coupled receptor superfamily, are all constitutively active, able to activate intracellular targets even in the absence of histamine (20, 21). Histamine is released in large quantities by mast cells during allergic reactions, and causes smooth muscle constriction, vasodilation, endothelial permeability and sensory nerve stimulation by activation of histamine receptors (6, 7). Hanahan and Coussens describe histamine as a potent vascular mediator and mitogenic growth mediator (9).



HISTAMINE

Figure 1. Molecular structure of histamine.

(From a file in the public domain available from Wikimedia Commons at https://commons.wikimedia.org, accessed July 30, 2020 and attributed to Vaccinationist.) Histamine and all of its receptors have been implicated in different aspects of tumor diseases, with histamine shown to stimulate tumor proliferation through H₁-receptors, promote tumor growth by negatively modulating immune cells through H₂-receptors, while also influencing the immune response against cancer and having an antiproliferative effect on cancer cells, having even been administered in clinical trials as combination cancer therapy. The H₁-receptor gene has been shown to be overexpressed in some tumor types and subtypes and associated with mainly – but not only – poor survival. This suggests that histamine and its receptors have dual roles in cancer, depending on histamine dose as well as tumor type. (7, 9, 14, 18, 22-37)

Antihistamines

Antihistamines are antagonists and/or inverse agonists of histamine receptors and are commonly used to treat allergic reactions and conditions such as allergic rhinitis, urticaria and motion sickness. Antihistamines are similar in structure to histamine (Figure 1 and Figure 2) and are categorized according to the histamine receptor type they bind to as H₁, H₂, H₃ or H₄. The antihistamines commonly used as allergy medications are all antagonists and/or inverse agonists of H₁-receptors, and here, unless specifically stated that H₂₋₄-antihistamines are being referred to or included, the term antihistamine can be taken to refer only to H₁-antihistamines.

 H_1 -antihistamines are classified as first- or second-generation: the first-generation, or classic, antihistamines have been in use since the 1940s, and as they readily cross the blood-brain barrier and bind to non-histamine receptors, they cause sedation and have a number of other side effects. Second-generation antihistamines were developed in the 1980s, and due to a higher specificity for H_1 -receptors, a lower affinity for the H_1 -receptors in the brain and non-histamine receptors, and a longer half-life, they have both fewer side effects such as sedation and need not be administered as often as the first-generation drugs. Second-generation antihistamines are also generally free from interactions with other drugs. (7, 16, 38)

Antihistamines include many different types of drugs, mostly amines. In this dissertation the six most common H₁-antihistamines used in our study populations of Swedish cancer patients are studied, namely cetirizine, clemastine, desloratadine, ebastine, fexofenadine and loratadine (Figure 2). Among those, clemastine is the only first-generation drug, and the only ethanolamine. Cetirizine is a piperazine, and the other four are all piperidines, together with other drugs such as astemizole and terfenadine. Desloratadine and fexofenadine are sometimes classified as third-generation antihistamines, as these compounds are active metabolites of the second-generation antihistamines loratadine and terfenadine respectively (7, 38).

Antihistamines inhibit the action of histamine by blocking the histamine receptors, or by inhibiting the activity of the enzyme histidine decarboxylase needed for histamine synthesis. Anti-inflammatory effects have also been shown for several H₁- antihistamines, particularly third- and second-generation drugs like desloratadine, fexofenadine and loratadine (38), thought to depend on the strong inverse agonism of these compounds, inhibiting even the basal signaling of the H₁-receptor (21, 38, 39). Desloratadine is the most potent antagonist and inverse agonist of the H₁-receptor among common antihistamines (38-40). Antihistamines desloratadine and ketotifen can also stabilize mast cell membranes, thereby preventing degranulation and the release of histamine from mast cells (7, 41, 42).



Figure 2. Molecular structure of common H1-antihistamines. Molecular structures for antihistamines cetirizine, clemastine, desloratadine, ebastine, fexofenadine and loratadine. (Figure curated by the author from files in the public domain available from Wikimedia Commons at https://commons.wikimedia.org, accessed July 20, 2020 and attributed to Fvasconcellos, Fuse809, Harbin, JaGa and User:Mysid.)

Mast cells – Jekyll and Hyde in cancer

Mast cells are long-lived secretory leukocytes that were first described by Ehrlich in 1878, who also noted both their presence and particular abundance in tumors (7, 43). Mast cells are classified as "professional" histamine producers, producing large quantities of histamine that can be rapidly released (43). They derive from hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow, which give rise to mast cell progenitors that migrate into different tissues through the blood circulation, where they mature

and differentiate into granulated cells (7, 43). Granulated mast cells are degranulated after activating contact with antigens, releasing a vast array of immunomodulatory mediators including histamine, serotonin and vascular endothelial growth factor (43). Mast cells are among the first immune cells recruited to solid tumors, where several factors in the tumor microenvironment may activate their degranulation (7). Eissmann et al. have shown that the degranulation of mast cells leads to growth of gastric tumors (44), although Hayes et al. have suggested that basophils, another type of histamine-producing cells, may be involved, having shown that the release of histamine from basophils drives tumor growth in epithelial cells (45).

Mast cells have been shown to be associated with angiogenesis, tumor proliferation, immunosuppression and metastasis – suggesting theirs is a tumorigenic role – as well as with tumor and metastasis inhibition, immune cell recruitment and tumor cell disruption – suggesting mast cells have anti-tumor effects (7, 8, 19, 35, 36, 43, 44, 46-48). Mast cells in tumors are associated with poor as well as favorable prognoses in different studies, reflecting their dual involvement in variously pro- and anti-tumor responses (7, 47, 49-52). To signify this dual nature, authors Theoharides and Conti have dubbed mast cells "the Jekyll and Hyde of tumor growth" (36).

Tumor immunogenicity and immune checkpoints

As with mast cells, and many concepts within immunology, Ehrlich was the first to hypothesize the immune system's ability to repress cancer growth. This concept has now been defined as tumor immunogenicity - the ability of a tumor to induce an immune response that can prevent its growth. (53) Successful tumors are thought to arise through immunoediting, meaning the selection of clones that can evade the immune system, and tumor cells adopt a variety of responses to avoid immune detection (12, 53). Immune checkpoints – inhibitory receptors crucial in protecting against autoimmunity and tissue damage from excessive immune responses - provide tumors with immune resistance mechanisms, and by the blockade of immune checkpoints, the anti-tumor immune responses can function. Important immune checkpoint receptors are cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1). Both of these receptors are known to be upregulated by exhausted T cells in chronic inflammation and cancer, and both inhibit T cell activity. (12, 54, 55) This is utilized in cancer immunotherapy, where activation of tumor immunity is often done by immune checkpoint inhibition (54). The first immune checkpoint inhibitor to be approved for treatment in cancer was the anti-CTLA-4 antibody ipilimumab, which has been proven to confer a survival benefit to patients with melanoma (12, 54). It has since been followed by anti-PD-1 and other immunotherapies, with these and many more in clinical trials for treatment of various immunogenic cancers (55-63).

T helper cells in cancer and allergy

Important in both the inflammatory and immune responses are the T helper (Th) cells, lymphocytes characterized by the surface expression of CD4, that have received their name as they aid B cells in antibody production (64). A major function of Th cells is the secretion of a vast array of cytokines that mediate inflammatory and immune responses (54, 65). Th cells develop into different subtypes, with the major ones being type 1 Th (Th1) cells and type 2 Th (Th2) cells that release different cytokines, and thereby regulate different types of immune responses. The Th1-response is important for the defense against intracellular pathogens and for the cytolytic response is important for the defense against extracellular pathogens and for IgE secretion, and can lead to allergic conditions (64, 66).

Histamine has been shown to affect the Th1/Th2 balance, skewing toward a Th2response by turning dendritic cells into Th2-promoters (67), upregulating Th2attractors, downregulating Th1-effectors (68) and disrupting the cytolytic response, thereby diminishing anti-tumor immunity (69). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells, also involved in the Th2-skewing immune response, are promoted by histamine, and interactions between mast cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells can "serve as a bridge between allergic inflammation and tumorigenic host responses" according to Martin et al. (69). Tosolini et al. analyzed Th cell subpopulations in colorectal cancer and found that patients with a high Th1-response expression had a longer disease-free survival, whereas the Th2-response expression was not associated with any prognosis prediction (70).

Allergy and cancer

Unsurprisingly, the link between cancer and allergy is also complex and contradictory. Studies have shown variously increased, decreased or unaltered risks of developing different cancers for those with allergy and atopy. Overall, allergic conditions do not seem to protect against cancer. (71-89) Allergic conditions may protect against tumors through increased immunosurveillance as a result of a heightened immune response and through prophylaxis, as well as be detrimental by causing chronic persistence of inflammatory cells such as mast cells that create a beneficial milieu *for* tumors and by skewing the Th-response. The risk of developing a tumor depends on both the type of allergic condition and the type of tumor in question. (74, 76, 79, 80, 82, 83, 86-88) Some have raised questions of reverse causality with regard to the decreased risk of certain cancers associated with allergic conditions, for example non-Hodgkin

lymphoma and glioma, where immunosuppression resulting from the cancer may in fact be responsible for the allergic response reported (71, 83, 86).

The picture is even more complex when it comes to cancer prognosis and allergy: in their case-control study on atopy and melanoma risk and prognosis, Marasigan et al. found that while there was an inverse association between atopy and melanoma risk, there was no difference in progression or survival among melanoma patients with or without atopy, suggesting that the heightened immunosurveillance in those with atopy may protect against tumor development, without conferring any survival benefit for those that do develop tumors (82). Other studies have found associations with decreased progression and improved cancer survival for individuals with allergic conditions and markers, and still others show no survival difference (88, 90-98). As with cancer risk, progression and survival depend on the tumor type, organ and the allergic condition(s) in question (88, 94-96).

Further clouding the picture is the widespread use of medications, such as antihistamines, to alleviate symptoms of allergic conditions, that may confound the association of allergies with cancer risks and prognoses, and many studies even define allergic conditions among participants by proxy through use of medications such as antihistamines (76, 86, 99).

Antihistamines and cancer risk

Prompted in part by reports on increased cancer risk associated with the use of antidepressants (as antihistamines are structurally similar to antidepressants), as well as the findings in an early study on antihistamines (100) that could not be reproduced (101), where certain antihistamines were found to promote tumor growth, several epidemiological studies were done to determine whether antihistamine use was associated with increased cancer risk, recurrence or second primary tumors (102-104). Neither study on breast cancer found any association with increased breast cancer risk for antihistamine users (102, 103), and no association with recurrence or second primary tumors for antihistamine users with breast cancer, colon cancer or melanoma were found (104). A study from 1989 on cancer risk and prescription drug use found a significantly decreased breast cancer risk for users of the antihistamine hydroxyzine and a significantly decreased overall cancer risk, as well as decreased lung and pancreatic cancer risks, for users of meclizine, but increased risks of some cancers were also found for those and other antihistamines in the same study (105). More recently, associations with increased risk for both non-Hodgkin lymphoma and glioma with long-term antihistamine use have been found (106-108), while a 2019 study on antihistamine use and ovarian cancer incidence showed no altered risk of ovarian cancer for antihistamine users (109).

H₁-antihistamines as cancer therapy

Even though it has long been known that tumors maintain an inflammatory microenvironment, this knowledge has only been applied relatively recently in finding and developing anti-inflammatory agents with potential in cancer therapy, though antihistamines as anti-tumor medications have been suggested as early as the 1970s (110, 111). Among anti-inflammatory medications, antihistamines are particularly good candidates, and H₂-antihistamines, cimetidine chief among them, have shown a great deal of promise as adjuvant drugs for the treatment of several gastrointestinal cancers, with a Cochrane review calling for large-scale trials of cimetidine as a colorectal cancer treatment (112).

Despite this, H₁-antihistamines have not been studied in relation to cancer therapy to nearly the same degree, though they are among the most ubiquitously used medications globally, and are increasingly sophisticated, affordable and safe. Most importantly, they have much lower toxicity than conventional chemotherapeutics, and taken together, these properties make H₁-antihistamines ideal candidates in the search for novel cancer therapeutics. In a review published in 2017, Faustino-Rocha et al. argue that given the low toxicity of antihistamines compared with chemotherapeutics, "the study of their use as adjuvants for conventional therapy is warranted" (7), while Massari et al. point to the fact that as both histamine and antihistamines are approved for human use, "the gap between experimental work and potential clinical application" is reduced (18).

Early in vitro and in vivo studies on H1-antihistamines in relation to cancer were inconclusive, with some authors variously presenting no effects on tumors (100, 113), tumor growth promotion and decreased survival (22, 23, 100) and anti-tumor effects (111, 114, 115) of the – nearly only first-generation – H₁-antihistamines studied. Since then, evidence that certain H1-antihistamines may have anti-tumor effects that could be utilized in the management of several tumor diseases has been mounting, with in silico, in vitro and in vivo studies showing promising results, particularly regarding astemizole (116-130), loratadine (131-135) and terfenadine (32, 126, 127, 131, 134, 136-138) as well as cetirizine (45), clemastine (139), cinnarizine (140, 141), cyproheptadine (142-145), desloratadine (139), ketotifen (146), meclizine (147) and 2-(3-fluorophenyl)histamine (33). These studies have found that antihistamines have selective, dose-dependent cytotoxicity against tumor cells, and can induce apoptosis and inhibit tumor proliferation, growth and migration. A recent study, published this year, shows anti-tumor effects of desloratadine on bladder cancer cells in vitro (148), and another study published online just this July shows in vivo effects of combination treatment with loratadine for colorectal cancer (149).

When our research group first reported an association with improved survival with use of common H₁-antihistamines among Swedish women with breast cancer in 2015

(150), to the best of our knowledge it was the first finding of the sort, as previous studies in the field have utilized cell lines and animal models. Recently, two Danish studies with somewhat similar approaches to ours have also shown an association with improved survival with use of common H_1 -antihistamines in non-small cell lung cancer and non-localized cancers (151) as well as in ovarian cancer (152).

See Table 1 for some of the accumulated evidence for anti-tumor effects of H_1 -antihistamines known to date.

Antinistamine	Cancer type/ tumorigenic process	Type of study	Reference	Year
		In vivo	Downie et al.(121)	2008
	Angiogenesis	In vitro	Lyu et al.(128)	2018
		In vitro	Ouadid-Ahidouch et al.(129)	2004
		In vitro	Roy et al.(130)	2008
		In vitro	García-Becerra et al.(122)	2010
	Breast	In vitro	García-Quiroz et al.(123)	2012
		In vivo	García-Quiroz et al.(124)	2014
		In vitro	García-Quiroz et al.(125)	2019
Astemizole		In vitro	Díaz et al.(120)	2009
	Cervical	In vitro	Chávez-López et al.(117)	2014
	Leukemia (AML)	In silico + in vitro	Laverdière et al.(127)	2018
	Liver	In vitro	Chávez-López et al.(118)	2015
	Lung	In vitro	Chávez-López et al.(119)	2017
	Lung (NSCLC) + non-localized	Register + in vitro	Ellegaard et al.(151)	2016
	Melanoma	In vitro	Jangi et al.(126)	2006
	Ovarian	Register + in vitro	Verdoodt et al.(152)	2020
	Prostate	In vitro	Bernal-Ramos et al.(116)	2017
Cetirizine	Epithelial	In vivo	Hayes et al.(45)	2020
Cinnavizina	Lymphoma + multiple myeloma	In vitro	Schmeel et al.(141)	2015
Cinnarizine	Uveal melanoma	In silico	Fagone et al.(140)	2017
Clemastine	Lymphoma (CTCL)	In vitro	Döbbeling et al.(139)	2013
	Leukemia + multiple myeloma	In vivo	Mao et al.(144)	2008
	Liver	In vitro	Feng et al.(142)	2015
Cyproheptadine	Lymphoma (MCL)	In vitro	Paoluzzi et al.(145)	2009
	Multiple myeloma	In vitro	Li et al.(143)	2013
	Ovarian	Register + in vitro	Verdoodt et al.(152)	2020
	Bladder	In vitro	Ma et al.(148)	2020
	Breast	Register	Olsson et al.(150)	2015
Desloratadine	Lymphoma (CTCL)	In vitro	Döbbeling et al.(139)	2013
	Ovarian	Register + in vitro	Verdoodt et al.(152)	2020
	Breast	Register	Olsson et al.(150)	2015
Ebastine	Lung (NSCLC) + non-localized	Register + in vitro	Ellegaard et al.(151)	2016
	Ovarian	Register + in vitro	Verdoodt et al.(152)	2020
Fexofenadine	Breast	Register	Olsson et al.(150)	2015

Table 1. Evidence of anti-tumor potential of H1-antihistamines

Antihistamine	Cancer type/ tumorigenic process	Type of study	Reference	Year
Ketotifen	Breast + fibrosarcoma	In vitro	Kim et al.(146)	2014
	Colorectal	In vitro + in vivo	Chen et al.(131)	2006
	Colorectal + gastric	In vitro + in vivo	Chen et al.(132)	2017
	Colorectal	In vivo	Lin et al.(149)	2020
Loratadino	Colorectal + prostate + glioblastoma	In vitro	Soule et al.(135)	2010
Loratadine	Lung (NSCLC) + non-localized	Register + in vitro	Ellegaard et al.(151)	2016
	Mast cell	In vitro	Hadzijusufovic et al.(134)	2010
	Ovarian	Register + in vitro	Verdoodt et al.(152)	2020
	Pancreatic	In vitro	Desai et al.(133)	2019
Meclizine	Colorectal	In vitro	Lin et al.(147)	2007
	Colorectal	In vitro	Chen et al.(131)	2006
	Leukemia (AML)	In silico + in vitro	Laverdière et al.(127)	2018
	Liver	In vitro	Lampiasi et al.(136)	2007
	Lung + pancreatic	In vitro	Varbanov et al.(138)	2019
Terfenadine	Mast cell	In vitro	Hadzijusufovic et al.(134)	2010
		In vitro	Jangi et al.(126)	2006
	Melanoma	In vitro	Jangi et al.(32)	2008
		In vitro	Nicolau-Galmés et al.(137)	2011
	Ovarian	Register + in vitro	Verdoodt et al.(152)	2020

Table 1. Continued

However, among the H_1 -antihistamines showing promise as new cancer treatment, both astemizole and terfenadine have been withdrawn due to their cardiotoxicity (4), and cinnarizine, while still available, has several side effects, some quite severe, including drug-induced parkinsonism (153), which rather limit their suitability, compared with other, commonly used and safer antihistamines. As Izumi-Nakaseko et al. note, having evaluated the proarrhythmic potential of astemizole to ascertain its suitability for cancer therapy, the proarrhythmic dose of astemizole is lower than the anti-cancer dose (154).

The mechanism(s) behind the anti-cancer effects and associations shown for H_1 antihistamines are largely unknown, though it is clear that whatever anti-tumor effects certain H_1 -antihistamines may exert, these are not solely dependent on H_1 -receptor inhibition, as some studies have shown this experimentally (127, 137), and not all H_1 antihistamines were associated with improved survival in register-based studies (150-152).

Aims and approach in Studies I-IV

Contrary to many of the existing studies on antihistamines with a potential in cancer therapy, focused in large part on the withdrawn medications astemizole and terfenadine, or uncommon antihistamines, our focus has instead been on six H₁- antihistamines commonly used in Sweden: cetirizine, clemastine, desloratadine, ebastine, fexofenadine and loratadine (Figure 2). All, bar clemastine, are second- or third-generation drugs, with a high selectivity and affinity for the H₁-receptor, little to no CNS effects or interactions with other drugs. Desloratadine has the highest H₁-receptor affinity, anti-inflammatory properties, and no reported interaction with cardiac potassium channels, and is approved for use in both adults and children. (38)

Our hypothesis was that there may be a potential role for some, or all, of these antihistamines in cancer therapy, and for this purpose, we set out to study the mortality of antihistamine users and non-users among patients with different cancers. Initially, we focused on breast cancer, then in our first study (reported on in Paper I), we focused on melanoma. Our second study (reported on in Paper II) was again focused on breast cancer, and in our third study (reported on in Paper III), we compared several immunogenic and non-immunogenic cancer types in a meta-analysis, trying to establish whether the potential effect may be immunological. In our fourth study (reported on in Paper IV), we try to quantify the potential effect of desloratadine as cancer therapy for immunogenic cancer types. See Figure 3 for an overview of the studies and papers included in this dissertation.



Figure 3. Overview of the studies and papers included in the dissertation. Types of tumors, antihistamine use and mortality analyzed in Studies I-IV presented in Papers I-IV.

Methodology

As shown in Figure 3 above, the studies included in this dissertation and reported on in Papers I-IV are all similarly structured, with a population selected based on cancer diagnoses, and data on antihistamine use and deaths for that population added and analyzed using Cox regression. All four studies included here are register studies. The methodology used for each study is more extensively described in the corresponding paper at the end of this dissertation, and what follows below is an overarching description of the materials and methods used.

Registers and data

In Studies I-IV we have utilized some of the excellent health care registers here in Sweden, namely the Swedish Cancer Register, hereafter referred to as SCR; the Swedish Cause of Death Register; the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register, hereafter referred to as PDR; and the Swedish Melanoma Register, hereafter referred to as SweMR. We also used data on education level from The Longitudinal Integrated Database for Health Insurance and Labor Market Studies, or LISA, where data from a register of the education of the Swedish population is available. See Table 2 for an overview of the registers used.

Name	Administered by	Includes	Туре	Data since	Completeness	Used in
The Swedish Melanoma Register	Regional Cancer Center Southeast Sweden	Cases of cutaneous malignant melanoma diagnosed in Sweden	Quality register	1990	~99%	Study I
The Swedish Cancer Register	The National Board of Health and Welfare	Cases of cancer diagnosed in Sweden	Mandatory	1958	96%(155)	Studies II, III & IV
The Swedish Prescribed Drug Register	The National Board of Health and Welfare	Dispensed prescribed pharmaceuticals in Sweden	Mandatory	July 1st 2005	~100% for most variables	Studies I- IV
The Swedish Cause of Death Register	The National Board of Health and Welfare	Causes of death for the deceased in Sweden	Mandatory	1961	98-99%	Studies I- IV
The Longitudinal Integrated Database for Health Insurance and Labor Market Studies	Statistics Sweden	Socioeconomic data on all adolescents and adults in Sweden	Database with data from 11 registers	1990	99.3% for data on education level	Study I

All these registers have comprehensive coverage of the entire population, and certain inevitable loss of data notwithstanding, in theory, all cancer cases are recorded in the SCR, and all cutaneous malignant melanomas in SweMR, all dispensed prescriptions are noted in the PDR, and all deaths and their causes are recorded in the Swedish Cause of Death Register. The registers can all be linked through the Swedish personal identity numbers assigned to all individuals entered in the Swedish Population Register, and this was done at The National Board of Health and Welfare, where data was pseudo-anonymized (a key being kept for a limited time by The National Board of Health and Welfare) before being delivered.

Definitions, classifications and variables

As some of the data regarding individuals in these registers derives from the Swedish Population Register, where only data on an individual's legal gender exists, this has been used in our studies a proxy for sex to adjust for sex-specific differences in our survival analyses. Throughout this dissertation and the included papers, therefore, the terms "woman" and "man" refer to individuals whose legal gender is female and male respectively.¹

We have defined antihistamine use in two ways in our studies; peri-diagnostic use and post-diagnostic use (see the "Statistical analyses" section below for a more precise description of these definitions). Pre-diagnostic antihistamine use has not been considered here, although for some antihistamine users who received their diagnoses toward the end of the study periods, such data was available. However, considering the high average age of a tumor at diagnosis (median latency time for a breast tumor has been approximated at 22 years (156)), we have little to no data on pre-tumor antihistamine use for most individuals, and the data we have therefore does not allow for such analyses. Throughout all studies, only use of the six most common H_1 -

¹A note on sex and gender: in Swedish, the word "kön" means both sex and gender, and the two meanings are commonly conflated because of this lack of linguistic differentiation. In registers, the variable "kön" denotes legal gender, which is here used as a proxy for sex assigned at birth, as there is a considerable overlap. Currently, only two options exist in Sweden for "kön" legally, meaning that this variable is to be seen as a rough proxy, as it neither allows for intersex individuals or for non-binary people to be recognized for who they are, and individuals under the broader trans umbrella may have their "kön" in registers correspond to their assigned sex at birth or their legal gender. First and foremost, this results in a human rights issue for the numerous individuals in the LGBTQIA+ community whose identities are not recognized. It also creates a conundrum for those of us using register data for research purposes, as what we may want to know about the individuals in our study populations may be variously related to their physiological or anatomical characteristics such as presence or absence of certain organs or bodily features, gender identity or assigned sex at birth, and what we have is a single, binary variable.

antihistamines used in our patient population is considered antihistamine use, as the low number of users of other H₁-antihistamines precluded analyses of these.

In Study III, we define immunogenicity of tumors based on known responses to immune checkpoint therapy. While some of the classifications we have made are based on weaker evidence, namely regarding pancreatic and prostate cancer (56, 58, 61, 157), there is ample evidence of response to immune checkpoint therapy for the rest of the tumor types we have classified as immunogenic: bladder, breast, colorectal, gastric, kidney and lung cancer, Hodgkin lymphoma and melanoma (57, 60, 62, 63). Based on preclinical studies, it may be argued that ovarian cancer is immunogenic, however, as patients with ovarian cancer have failed to show response to immune checkpoint therapy in clinical trials (59), we have chosen to classify ovarian cancer as non-immunogenic. The low heterogeneity measure for desloratadine supports our groupings.

Statistical analyses

We used Cox regression analyses in all four studies to analyze antihistamine use and mortality, with time-to-event (death, or censoring due to migration or end of study) as outcome (158, 159). Cox regression, or the Cox proportional hazards model, is commonly used in survival analysis, as it allows for the assessment of associations between several covariates and survival (158, 160).

In Studies I and II, we analyzed both peri- and post-diagnostic antihistamine use, and both overall and tumor-specific mortality, whereas only tumor-specific mortality and peri-diagnostic antihistamine use were analyzed in Studies III and IV.

Peri-diagnostic use is here defined as dispensed prescriptions of any of the six studied antihistamines in the year surrounding the cancer diagnosis in question (six months pre-diagnosis to six months post-diagnosis). The small proportion of individuals who used more than one of the six antihistamines during the time in question were defined as users of the antihistamine for which they had the most dispensed defined daily doses (DDDs).

Post-diagnostic antihistamine use was defined in a cumulative manner, as the total number of dispensed DDDs of any of the six antihistamines from diagnosis until a specific time during follow-up. Time-varying covariates were used for post-diagnostic analyses (158, 159), allowing for the cumulative use to change over time as antihistamine use continues, and for individuals to provide data as both non-users and users, as well as concomitant use of several antihistamines. Cumulative DDDs were analyzed by log transformation. In Study II, the post-diagnostic analysis was extended to include lag from zero to five years in six-month intervals for four of the studied

antihistamines. The lag was added in order to evaluate whether any potential effects of antihistamines were delayed in time, and to exclude any end-of-life alterations in use due to poor health or other reasons (161).

Analyses were stratified for patient age in Study II, for patient age and gender in Study I and Study III (although some analyses were crude), and for patient age, gender and calendar year of diagnosis in Study IV. Statistical analyses were performed using R (162), and P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Methodological advantages and limitations

There are, as always, both advantages and limitations associated with our chosen data and methods. Some limitations we can adjust or compensate for, and some we cannot.

While register-based research is not without its drawbacks, the main advantage in each of our studies is that, since we used nation-wide population registers, our target population overlaps our study population to the highest possible degree, leading to great generalizability of results. Another advantage in our studies is that by the very nature of our study designs, the antihistamines we evaluate for possible clinical potential are already in use in the patient populations in question.

A major limitation is our inability to adjust for the underlying indications for which the antihistamines are prescribed, to exclude any confounding by indication. However, with the possible exception of clemastine, which can be prescribed to counteract side effects of chemotherapy (151), there is no known association with being prescribed a certain antihistamine for a certain indication that may be connected to cancer mortality. Other studies have shown no overall association with altered cancer prognosis for those with allergic conditions (see "Allergy and cancer" above), and as discussed above, some studies have even classified allergic conditions by antihistamine use (82, 88, 90-98). While the inability to adjust for the indications in question is a limitation in our studies, we do not believe that we have any significant confounding by indication, as there seem to be both increased and decreased risks associated with the indications, use of different antihistamines is not associated with uniform risks of cancer and survival (150-152), and, importantly, we do not have a single common indication for all antihistamine users in our studies. The *in vitro* studies on primary cells and cancer cell lines showing anti-tumor effects of certain antihistamines listed in Table 1 also support the hypothesis that there may be true associations between antihistamine use and cancer survival.

As discussed in the note on sex and gender above, a limitation in register-based studies such as these is that only the binary variable for legal gender is available. While trans and intersex individuals are not estimated to make up a large proportion of the population (163, 164), this nevertheless creates unnecessary misclassifications.

As data on prescription-free drug use at the individual level is not recorded in Swedish registers, we cannot consider the use of these antihistamines without prescriptions. Three of the studied antihistamines (cetirizine, ebastine and loratadine) have been available without a prescription throughout our study periods, which precludes us from being able to appreciate the full exposure in the studied populations with regard to those three drugs. Fexofenadine was made available without a prescription in Sweden in 2011, and desloratadine in 2014, while clemastine is not available prescription-free. Therefore the full or nearly full exposure of the studied populations to those three antihistamines can be appreciated in these studies.

To evaluate potential outcome misclassification due to under-recording of tumorrelated deaths, we included analyses of both tumor-specific and overall deaths in Studies I & II, as while there is no reason to doubt that a death that has been noted as such in the Swedish Cause of Death Register is in fact tumor-related, autopsies are not routinely performed in Sweden, and the true number of tumor-specific deaths may be higher than what is known. Having seen that our results did not alter to any significant degree due to potential outcome misclassification, we analyzed only tumor-specific deaths in the subsequent two studies.

Another issue that arises when only tumor-specific mortality is considered is that of competing risks: if antihistamine use has an effect on other causes of death (for instance, if the anti-inflammatory properties of the drugs confer a survival benefit due to decreased risk of cardiovascular death), the association we see when we examine only tumor-specific death (which cannot occur for someone who has died of cardiovascular disease) may be influenced by the true association with cardiovascular death through competing risks (159, 165).

Unmeasured risk factors affecting both the outcome and cancer incidence may cause a type of bias where cancer becomes a collider if the exposure also influences cancer incidence (166-169). As Cespedes Feliciano et al. report, "a risk factor that increases disease incidence will increase disease-specific mortality" (166). Here, we rely on the previous work by Hemminki et al., Nadalin et al. and others, presented above in the sections "Allergy and cancer" and "Antihistamines and cancer risk", showing no increased overall cancer risk for those with allergic conditions or users of antihistamines, and that both decreased and increased risks of different types of cancer can be seen (75, 103), indicating that there need not be any such systematic bias in our studies. We also did an analysis of desloratadine use and cancer risk (not presented here) using controls from another study, where we found no increased risk of cancer with desloratadine use. We did not have enough events to exclude this as the reason for not finding any increased risk, but the analysis further suggests that this type of bias may not affect our studies. Also, the anti-tumor effects of antihistamines seen on cancer cells from different tissues (presented in Table 1 above) further suggest that this type of bias is not a major issue here.

As immortal time bias, or survivor treatment selection bias, can be an issue in survival analysis of treatment effects (170, 171), time-varying covariates were used in our postdiagnostic analyses, so as to account for the changes in exposure status for different individuals (158, 171). For that same reason, study start was set to six months following diagnosis for the peri-diagnostic analyses.

Results

As few studies have thus far been done where antihistamine use and survival in cancer is analyzed, this dissertation advances the understanding of whether the potential antitumor effects of some antihistamines reported in previous studies correspond to any real-life survival difference for antihistamine users with tumor diseases.

The main findings of the studies included in this dissertation are as follows:

- 1) use of desloratadine and loratadine is associated with a survival benefit in several tumors (Studies I-III);
- 2) the tumors where use of these antihistamines is associated with improved survival can all arguably be classified as immunogenic (Study III); and
- 3) hundreds of thousands of lives may be spared globally with a desloratadine intervention (Study IV).

These results are presented in brief below, and more extensively in Papers I-IV at the end of this dissertation.

Initial results

In the initial analyses of breast cancer mortality (that would ultimately result in Study II), we treated the H_1 -antihistamine users as one group and compared their mortality to that of non-users of antihistamines and found no statistically significant difference in survival between the groups (Figure 4). However, there is an indication of increased survival for antihistamine users, that may become significant given a longer study time.

In all subsequent analyses, we examined the survival of antihistamine users separately by each antihistamine.



Figure 4. H₁-antihistamine use and breast cancer-specific survival. Survival probability of women diagnosed with breast cancer 2006-2013 who used cetirizine, clemastine, desloratadine, ebastine, fexofenadine and loratadine peri-diagnostically (n=5,001), compared with non-users of those antihistamines (n=55,284).

Study I

In Study I, we compared the mortality of antihistamine users with cutaneous malignant melanoma (CMM) to that of non-users of antihistamines with the same disease, and saw that there was an association with improved survival for use of desloratadine and loratadine – both in the crude analyses and when adjustments were made for various tumor and patient characteristics; when melanoma-specific and overall mortality was analyzed; and when antihistamine use was defined as use in the year surrounding diagnosis as well as post-diagnostically. Use of the other four studied antihistamines was not associated with any significantly altered melanoma survival. (Paper I, Tables 1 & S2-4 and Figure S1). We also saw a markedly improved survival for desloratadine users among both younger and older patients (defined as 65 and below, and above age 65, respectively), such that older desloratadine users with CMM appeared to have mortality rates similar to those of non-users in the younger age group (Paper I, Figure 1).

We analyzed the risk of developing a second primary CMM, and while the results were not statistically significant, there does appear to be a reduced risk of developing a second primary CMM for users of desloratadine and loratadine (Paper I, Figure S2).

Study II

In Study II, similar in approach to Study I but with a focus on breast cancer, we compared the mortality of antihistamine users with breast cancer to that of non-users of antihistamines with the same disease. Here, we saw that survival in breast cancer was improved for women who used desloratadine, ebastine and loratadine. Both peri- and post-diagnostic antihistamine use was analyzed, as well as both overall and breast cancer-specific survival. Subgroup analyses were made based on estrogen receptor (ER) status (using prescribed treatment as a proxy for ER-positive disease) and menopausal status (using age 50 as a proxy for menopause). The association with improved survival was most consistent across analyses for desloratadine, although in some cases seemed most pronounced for ebastine. (Paper II, Tables 2-5 & S1-2 and Figure 1.)

Study III

In Study III, we did a meta-analysis of the mortality of antihistamine users compared to non-users with ten immunogenic and six non-immunogenic tumor types (grouped according to any known response to immune checkpoint therapy). We classified bladder, breast, colorectal/anal, gastric, kidney, lung, pancreatic, and prostate cancer together with melanoma and Hodgkin lymphoma as immunogenic, whereas brain/CNS, liver/biliary tract, ovarian, thyroid and uterine cancer and non-Hodgkin lymphoma were classified as non-immunogenic cancers. Desloratadine use was associated with an improved tumor-specific survival for all immunogenic but no nonimmunogenic tumors (Paper III, Figure 1). Loratadine use was associated with improved tumor-specific survival for some of the immunogenic tumors as well as for ovarian cancer (Paper III, Figure 2). Cetirizine use was associated with improved survival in gastric, pancreatic and ovarian cancer, while use of clemastine, ebastine and fexofenadine was not associated with any improved cancer survival (Paper III, Figures S1-4).

Study IV

In Study IV, using the same population and initial methodology as in Study III, we focused on the immunogenic tumor types where we showed an association with improved survival with desloratadine use in Study III. Here, we used the tumor-specific mortality of desloratadine users and non-users of antihistamines, adjusted for age, gender and calendar year of diagnosis, and quantified the potential effect of desloratadine through a simulated desloratadine intervention in the whole population, by treating the population as first desloratadine users and then non-users, resulting in a survival difference of 2.5% for the immunogenic tumor types together, and corresponding to an additional 855 individuals of the incident annual cases with immunogenic tumors in Sweden that may survive beyond five years. For gastric and pancreatic cancer and Hodgkin lymphoma, the risk differences were 9-11%. Using the calculated survival difference we estimated that an additional 226,250 individuals of those with incident annual cases of immunogenic tumors may survive beyond five years in the global population. Using projections for cancer cases in low- and middle-income countries in 2030, we found that an additional 125,000 lives may be spared annually in low- and middle-income countries in ten years' time with a desloratadine intervention. (Paper IV, Results.)

Discussion

Antihistamines, including H₁-antihistamines, have been suggested as anti-cancer drugs since the 1970s, and with the work presented in this dissertation, we fill in some of the important gaps between the existing evidence from *in silico*, *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies and the threshold of evidence needed for the initiation of randomized clinical trials of H₁-antihistamines for cancer therapy, using register data on the entire Swedish population.

We have found that desloratadine and loratadine stand out among common H_1 antihistamines for their association with improved survival in melanoma, breast cancer and other immunogenic cancers, and that a potential desloratadine intervention could spare hundreds of thousands of lives. Our findings show a promising potential for desloratadine and loratadine as cancer therapy, and we propose an antihistamine effect, that may be immunological in nature, as an explanation of our findings.

Points related to our combined findings in Studies I-IV are discussed in brief here, while the results of the specific studies are discussed in more detail in Papers I-IV at the end of this dissertation.

The case for an antihistamine effect

The first, and most obvious, objection to our findings is the question of whether the association we show is merely an effect of a heightened immune response for those with allergic conditions that positively influences cancer survival, or some other confounding by indication, whereby those with allergic conditions have an improved cancer survival in the diseases we have studied. As presented in the section "Methodological advantages and limitations", there are several reasons as to why we argue that some confounding by indication would not explain our findings. The recent study on anti-tumor effects of desloratadine on bladder cancer cells in particular supports our findings regarding desloratadine (148). In addition to what is discussed above, not all studied antihistamines are associated with improved cancer survival in our studies, further supporting that the observed association may be true. Our lag analyses also show that the potential effect of some of the antihistamines increases with a longer duration and larger cumulative dose, something that cannot be readily explained if allergic rhinitis or

atopy or some other indication had an effect on mortality. All of this suggests that our findings are not merely due to some unknown protective effect of allergy or other conditions for which antihistamines are prescribed.

While we cannot adjust for allergic conditions, or other indications for which antihistamines are prescribed, similarly in studies where the cancer survival of those with allergies are studied, antihistamine use cannot readily be adjusted for, as antihistamines are used by a large proportion of those with allergic conditions. What we *can* do, however, is present a case for further studies and clinical trials of certain antihistamines in cancer therapy, where both the best- and worst-case scenarios may result in conclusive proof of either an antihistamine or allergy effect.

The proposed antihistamine effect

No overall survival benefit was seen when all antihistamine users with breast cancer were treated as a group (Figure 4), and therefore we recommend that any study assessing risks and prognoses associated with antihistamine use analyze the drugs separately. Most probably, the reason that no overall survival benefit was seen in our initial analyses is that use of clemastine (and possibly cetirizine) may influence survival negatively, perhaps reflecting the dual nature of histamine in cancer.

We propose an antihistamine effect that may in fact be greater than what we can show here, as we unfortunately cannot correct for the likely dilution due to prescription-free use of loratadine throughout the study periods, and of desloratadine from 2014 (as well as possibly that of ebastine, fexofenadine and cetirizine to some extent).

As desloratadine is the active metabolite of loratadine, it is possible that the observed association of improved survival with loratadine use that we show in Papers I-III is due to a desloratadine effect. Alternatively, a heterogeneity among tumor types with regard to the proposed antihistamine effect may explain the differences seen.

In Study IV, our calculation is based on the use of desloratadine to treat common allergies and other indications for which desloratadine is currently prescribed and does not take into account either duration of use or dosage. Therefore our quantification is in all likelihood an underestimation of any actual desloratadine intervention, after randomized clinical trials have shown what would constitute optimal dosage and duration. The full antihistamine effect may also be greater than what we propose in Paper IV, as loratadine, ebastine, and possibly even cetirizine and fexofenadine may have anti-tumor effects in some cancers where desloratadine is not as effective, but we have only quantified the possible desloratadine effect. Our group of non-users also includes those who use antihistamines without a prescription, leading to a potential underestimation of the survival difference. That the survival can still be estimated at 2.5% for all tumor types together is promising.

Immunotherapy against CTLA-4 and PD-1 are important in the treatment of advanced metastatic melanoma now, as is treatment with BRAF and MEK inhibitors, but no CMM patients included in Study I received immunotherapy, and only a few were treated with BRAF and MEK inhibitors, and any survival benefit of desloratadine or loratadine together with modern melanoma and other immunogenic cancer therapy remains to be seen. It could be greater than what we can show here, as antihistamines may work synergistically with, or even potentiate the effects of, modern immuno- and chemotherapeutics (127, 138, 151).

An immunological mechanism?

Our first notion of the most likely mechanism behind the potential effect of desloratadine and loratadine is that it is immunological in nature. Histamine, mast cells and other cells and mediators on which desloratadine and loratadine have an effect are involved in many aspects of inflammation and the immune response to tumors. That all the tumors where we saw an association with improved survival in Study III can be classified as immunogenic lends support to this notion.

The potential effect of desloratadine and loratadine may rely on the blockade of H₁receptors (27, 28) through the potent antagonism (38, 40) and inverse agonism of desloratadine (38, 39) inhibiting both the basal and histamine-induced signaling of the receptors. It may also have to do with the inhibition of histamine synthesis and secretion, or depend on the stabilizing effect of desloratadine on mast cells (41, 42). It may involve counteracting the histamine-promoted immunoregulatory activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (69), or the disruption of the histamine-mediated skewing away from the Th1-dependent cytolytic response (67-70). The effect may also involve the CTLA-4 or PD-1 pathways (12, 54), STAT3 signaling (139, 172), or the paradoxical, basophil-mediated, role of IgE in cancer described by Crawford et al. and Hayes et al. in two recent papers (45, 173).

While we believe an immunological effect is the most likely explanation of our results, non-immunological effects, such as an effect on lysosomes or some unknown novel effect, may also explain our results. Others have postulated that the potential mechanism involves lysosomal cell death (174), as lysosomes are more abundant and larger in tumor cells than in other cells of the same tissue (151, 152, 175). Class-II lysosomotropic drugs (including cationic amphiphilic antihistamines like desloratadine and loratadine) may restore sensitivity of multi-drug resistant cancer cells to chemotherapeutics. Due to this, and a severalfold selectivity for cancer cells, these drugs have been proposed by Kuzu et al. as "a novel approach for killing cancer cells without

affecting normal ones". (176) Any synergy or additive effects remain to be seen whatever the mechanisms involved may be.

An immodest proposal

We realize the unorthodox nature of our call for randomized clinical trials, based on our findings and the other evidence in support of a potential anti-tumor effect of antihistamines. However, due to the nature of the circumstances, where replication is not only impossible and impractical, and the direness of the diagnoses where desloratadine may have an effect on survival, the delays caused by waiting for results of extensive preclinical studies might also prove fatal for severely ill patients. The situation is already very unusual in that the drugs we propose for repurposing are already in use in the patient population in question. As these antihistamines are already in use among the patients, there is very little risk associated with initiation of clinical trials, while the gain, should our hypothesis prove correct, may be great, as we show in Paper IV.

Conclusions

In Studies I & II, we found that the common H_1 -antihistamines desloratadine and loratadine are associated with increased survival in melanoma and breast cancer, and in Study III we saw that this pattern holds for other immunogenic tumors as well, especially with regards to desloratadine, leading us to the conclusion that desloratadine and loratadine may prove useful in cancer therapy for patients with immunogenic tumors. In Study IV we quantify this potential desloratadine effect, and show that numerous lives may be spared, concluding that the rationale for clinical trials, particularly of desloratadine in cancers that are difficult to treat and deadly, is strong.

Future perspectives

The conclusions of our studies point toward two main areas for future research:

- randomized clinical trials of desloratadine and loratadine (and perhaps other H₁-antihistamines such as ebastine) as additional treatment for immunogenic cancers in particular; and
- 2) future studies to elucidate the nature of any anti-tumor effect.

While we hypothesize that the potential effect of desloratadine and loratadine may be immunological in nature, as the cancers where their use is associated with increased survival are also cancers that respond to immune checkpoint inhibition, the nature of the potential effect and the exact mechanism remain to be found. Studies on tumors and normal tissue from antihistamine users and non-users with immunogenic cancers should be undertaken to better understand what mechanisms may be involved in the proposed antihistamine effect. Studies of animal models will also shed light on the nature of the association that we have found. However, the lack of a reliable immunocompetent *in vivo* model for melanoma (177, 178), arguably one of the most interesting cancers for a desloratadine intervention, where interactions with anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 could be studied, further supports our call for clinical trials.

Verbaanderd et al. point out some of the challenges involved in drug repurposing and highlight the case of the H₂-antihistamine cimetidine, which, despite positive results in clinical trials and a Cochrane systematic review calling for large-scale clinical trials (112), still has not been adopted into clinical practice anywhere (179). Pantziarka et al. discuss the need for clinicians to "facilitate repurposing by supporting clinical trials and trial applications when they occur" in a 2018 editorial, and end their piece by asking "scientists, citizens, doctors, and patients to join forces, and voices, in support of repurposing old drugs for new indications" (3). Here at the end of this dissertation, I echo their plea, and the by now decades-old suggestion that certain H₁-antihistamines could have a role in cancer therapy.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)

Cancer är en stor grupp sjukdomar med gemensamma karaktäristika som ohämmad tillväxt av celler. Cancersjukdomar är den näst vanligaste dödsorsaken i världen, och orsakar årligen nästan 10 miljoner dödsfall globalt, och ca 22 500 dödsfall i Sverige. Lungcancer är den cancerform som orsakar flest dödsfall, åtföljd av tjocktarms-, magsäcks-, lever- och bröstcancer samt cancer i matstrupen och bukspottkörteln.

Behandlingsmöjligheterna skiljer sig avsevärt för olika cancerformer, och det finns ett stort behov av nya verksamma läkemedel, särskilt när det gäller svårbehandlade och mycket dödliga tumörer som bukspottkörtelcancer. Genom vad som kallas för läkemedelsompositionering, eller rätt och slätt läkemedelsåteranvändning, då redan existerande, godkända läkemedel får ett nytt användningsområde, kan detta behov tillgodoses både tids- och kostnadseffektivt.

Eftersom uppkomsten av cancersjukdomar har många likheter med inflammatoriska tillstånd kan detta utnyttjas i jakten på nya cancerläkemedel. Flera antiinflammatoriska läkemedel har mycket riktigt visat sig vara verksamma även mot tumörsjukdomar. Vanliga allergiläkemedel som antihistaminer tillhör gruppen antiinflammatoriska läkemedel, och flera studier har visat att vissa antihistaminer har lovande tumörhämmade egenskaper.

I tre av de fyra delarbetena som ligger till grund för den här avhandlingen har vi – genom att samköra data från Svenska Melanomregistret, Cancerregistret, Läkemedelsregistret och Dödsorsaksregistret – undersökt om användning av några av de vanligaste allergiläkemedlen i Sverige är förknippade med överlevnadsfördelar för patienter med melanom (delarbete 1), bröstcancer (delarbete 2) samt dessa och ytterligare fjorton tumörsjukdomar (delarbete 3).

Vi fann att användning av framförallt två av de sex antihistaminer vi studerat (desloratadin och loratadin) är förknippad med ökad överlevnad för patienter med melanom och bröstcancer, och att desloratadinanvändning är förknippad med ökad överlevnad i ytterligare åtta tumörsjukdomar: cancer i bukspottkörteln, lungorna, magsäcken, njurarna, prostatan, tjocktarmen och urinblåsan, samt Hodgkins lymfom.

Eftersom alla dessa tumörtyper också har gemensamt att de svarar på behandling med immunoterapi – där kroppens eget immunförsvar används för att hämma tumörtillväxten – misstänker vi att den potentiella effekten av desloratadin och loratadin troligen är immunologisk, och möjligen inbegriper de processer som även immunoterapin utnyttjar för att bekämpa tumörer. Stämmer vår hypotes kan det också medföra en ytterligare ökad överlevnad om dessa antihistaminer ges tillsammans med de nya immunoterapier som tagits fram de senaste åren.

I det fjärde delarbetet har vi uppskattat effekten av desloratadin som möjlig cancerbehandling, och beräknat att ytterligare ca 855 individer av de årligen insjuknade i de tio immunogena tumörsjukdomarna i Sverige, och ca 226 250 individer globalt, skulle kunna överleva med desloratadinbehandling. Det återstår att se vad den faktiska siffran hamnar på efter optimal behandlingsdos och -längd, men klart står att desloratadin är ett läkemedel med lovande potential för återanvändning. Desloratadin är säkert, billigt, och beprövat, och bör studeras vidare och ingå i kliniska prövningar som ett cancerläkemedel.

Acknowledgments

A long and serendipitous road led to my involvement in the projects that resulted in this dissertation, and I am sincerely grateful to everyone who helped me along the way, university colleagues and academically unaffiliated friends alike. If you're reading this looking for mention of your name without finding it, please know that any omission is due to the stress that comes with writing a dissertation under unusual circumstances, not a lack of gratitude.

First and foremost, my most heartfelt thanks to **Håkan Olsson**, my main supervisor, who gave me the enviable opportunity to work with projects of my choosing, and who has been encouraging, challenging and guiding me throughout it all. Your ability to stay focused among manifold ventures and remain constructive even in adversity is something I can only hope to partially emulate. Thank you for proving that even among sharp elbows, kindness can prevail, and that research, while frustrating at times, is, above all, fun.

Secondly, sincere thanks to my former and current co-supervisor, respectively, **Per Broberg** and **Philippe Wagner**, for all the support and statistical knowhow, without which there would not be very much to present in these pages. If I am to judge based on the two of you (although you'd certainly both object to the sample size), statisticians are the friendliest and most patient people on the planet. Per, thank you for explaining things when everything to do with epidemiology was new to me while being great company. Philippe, I have more to thank you for than what can be listed here, but I'm especially grateful for your long-distance support during the trials and tribulations of manuscript submission and revision, for the pep talks during thesis-writing, and for being the sort of person with whom work calls never feel like work.

Many thanks to **all my co-authors** for their input and cheerful support regarding the manuscripts and to **every past and present colleague at the Departments of Cancer Epidemiology and Oncology** who have helped me with issues big and small; scientific, computer-related or administrative.

Thank you to **all my weird and wonderful friends** for cheering me on, distracting me or commiserating with me, depending on what the situation called for. I am lucky to have so many great people in my life. Particular thanks are due to **Andrés**, **Emma** and (the other) **Philippe**, **Simon** and **Tove**, who helped out with various things and listened to me talk about antihistamines, cancer and the peer review process in what I'm certain must have been excruciating detail. Thank you to (the other) **Håkan** for the last-minute help.

Thank you for the photo for the back cover, **Hedvig**, and for being the little sister I never had for nearly two decades now.

Many thanks are also due to my mother, **Maria**, who has driven me to and from work much more often than what is reasonable, while being the one who taught me to value logic and reason; my sister, **Melinda**, who is (still) always there for me when I need her to be; my brother, **Attila**, who promised he will actually read this dissertation without skipping to this bit; and my father, **Tamás**, who taught me things unrelated to science, but just as important.

Lastly, and most importantly, my own little family:

Marcus – all PhD students should have the kind of support you have provided me with throughout the (by now many) years (I was sciencing as fast as I could!), though I very much doubt that there are any others quite this lucky. The words "thank you" are silly and woefully insufficient in this context: I owe you everything and couldn't and wouldn't have done this (or many of the other slightly bananas schemes over the years) without you. Not every aspect of our life together for the last two decades has been fun, but most of it has been wonderful, and I wouldn't change a thing. I hope we can continue to make others shake their heads at many more slightly bananas schemes to come.

Gusti – the last time I wrote and defended a dissertation, I was pregnant with you, and the six years between these two theses have been the greatest adventure of my life. Words cannot express my gratitude, nor the immensity of my love and pride. You are the shiniest of shinies, eclipsing everything else, and being your parent is my single greatest privilege, purpose and achievement. JAG ÄLSKAR DIG. DU ÄR BÄST.

References

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2018;68(6):394-424.
- McGuigan A, Kelly P, Turkington RC, Jones C, Coleman HG, McCain RS. Pancreatic cancer: A review of clinical diagnosis, epidemiology, treatment and outcomes. *World J Gastroenterol.* 2018;24(43):4846-61.
- 3. Pantziarka P, Pirmohamed M, Mirza N. New uses for old drugs. *BMJ*. 2018;361:k2701.
- 4. Shah RR, Stonier PD. Repurposing old drugs in oncology: Opportunities with clinical and regulatory challenges ahead. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2019;44(1):6-22.
- 5. Sleire L, Førde HE, Netland IA, Leiss L, Skeie BS, Enger P. Drug repurposing in cancer. *Pharmacol Res.* 2017;124:74-91.
- 6. Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal-redux. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2015;3(1):1-11.
- 7. Faustino-Rocha AI, Ferreira R, Gama A, Oliveira PA, Ginja M. Antihistamines as promising drugs in cancer therapy. *Life Sci.* 2017;172:27-41.
- 8. Ribatti D, Tamma R, Crivellato E. The dual role of mast cells in tumor fate. *Cancer Lett*. 2018;433:252-8.
- 9. Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Cell.* 2012;21(3):309-22.
- 10. Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. 2002;420(6917):860-7.
- 11. Kuper H, Adami HO, Trichopoulos D. Infections as a major preventable cause of human cancer. *J Intern Med.* 2000;248(3):171-83.
- 12. Seidel JA, Otsuka A, Kabashima K. Anti-PD-1 and Anti-CTLA-4 Therapies in Cancer: Mechanisms of Action, Efficacy, and Limitations. *Front Oncol.* 2018;8:86.
- 13. Soucek L, Lawlor ER, Soto D, Shchors K, Swigart LB, Evan GI. Mast cells are required for angiogenesis and macroscopic expansion of Myc-induced pancreatic islet tumors. *Nat Med.* 2007;13(10):1211-8.
- 14. Medina VA, Lamas DJM, Massari N, Rivera ES, Coruzzi G, Adami M, et al. Histamine in cancer: Versita; 2013. 259-308 p.
- 15. Panula P, Chazot PL, Cowart M, Gutzmer R, Leurs R, Liu WL, et al. International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. XCVIII. Histamine Receptors. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2015;67(3):601-55.
- 16. Parsons ME, Ganellin CR. Histamine and its receptors. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2006;147 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S127-35.
- 17. Hirasawa N. Expression of Histidine Decarboxylase and Its Roles in Inflammation. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019;20(2).

- 18. Massari NA, Nicoud MB, Medina VA. Histamine receptors and cancer pharmacology: an update. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2020;177(3):516-38.
- 19. Salem A, Salo T. Nothing to sneeze at: Histamine and histamine receptors in oral carcinogenesis. *Oral Dis.* 2020.
- 20. Bakker RA, Wieland K, Timmerman H, Leurs R. Constitutive activity of the histamine H(1) receptor reveals inverse agonism of histamine H(1) receptor antagonists. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2000;387(1):R5-7.
- 21. Leurs R, Church MK, Taglialatela M. H1-antihistamines: inverse agonism, antiinflammatory actions and cardiac effects. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2002;32(4):489-98.
- 22. Bartholeyns J, Fozard JR. Role of histamine in tumor development. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 1985;6:123-5.
- 23. Burtin C, Scheinmann P, Salomon JC, Lespinats G, Canu P. Decrease in tumour growth by injections of histamine or serotonin in fibrosarcoma-bearing mice: influence of H1 and H2 histamine receptors. *Br J Cancer*. 1982;45(1):54-60.
- 24. Chen J, Hu XY. Inhibition of histamine receptor H3R suppresses prostate cancer growth, invasion and increases apoptosis via the AR pathway. *Oncol Lett.* 2018;16(4):4921-8.
- 25. Cianchi F, Vinci MC, Masini E. Histamine in cancer: the dual faces of the coin. *Cancer Biol Ther.* 2008;7(1):36-7.
- 26. Cricco G, Martín G, Medina V, Núñez M, Mohamad N, Croci M, et al. Histamine inhibits cell proliferation and modulates the expression of Bcl-2 family proteins via the H2 receptor in human pancreatic cancer cells. *Anticancer Res.* 2006;26(6b):4443-50.
- 27. Fernández-Nogueira P, Bragado P, Almendro V, Ametller E, Rios J, Choudhury S, et al. Differential expression of neurogenes among breast cancer subtypes identifies high risk patients. *Oncotarget*. 2016;7(5):5313-26.
- Fernández-Nogueira P, Noguera-Castells A, Fuster G, Recalde-Percaz L, Moragas N, López-Plana A, et al. Histamine receptor 1 inhibition enhances antitumor therapeutic responses through extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activation in breast cancer. *Cancer Lett.* 2018;424:70-83.
- 29. Grauers Wiktorin H, Nilsson MS, Kiffin R, Sander FE, Lenox B, Rydström A, et al. Histamine targets myeloid-derived suppressor cells and improves the anti-tumor efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2019;68(2):163-74.
- 30. Hellstrand K, Hansson M, Hermodsson S. Adjuvant histamine in cancer immunotherapy. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2000;10(1):29-39.
- 31. Jakhar R, Paul S, Bhardwaj M, Kang SC. Astemizole-Histamine induces Beclin-1independent autophagy by targeting p53-dependent crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis. *Cancer Lett.* 2016;372(1):89-100.
- 32. Jangi SM, Ruiz-Larrea MB, Nicolau-Galmés F, Andollo N, Arroyo-Berdugo Y, Ortega-Martínez I, et al. Terfenadine-induced apoptosis in human melanoma cells is mediated through Ca2+ homeostasis modulation and tyrosine kinase activity, independently of H1 histamine receptors. *Carcinogenesis*. 2008;29(3):500-9.
- 33. Lázár-Molnár E, Hegyesi H, Pállinger E, Kovács P, Tóth S, Fitzsimons C, et al. Inhibition of human primary melanoma cell proliferation by histamine is enhanced by interleukin-6. *Eur J Clin Invest.* 2002;32(10):743-9.

- 34. Pos Z, Wiener Z, Pocza P, Racz M, Toth S, Darvas Z, et al. Histamine suppresses fibulin-5 and insulin-like growth factor-II receptor expression in melanoma. *Cancer Res.* 2008;68(6):1997-2005.
- 35. Rivera ES, Cricco GP, Engel NI, Fitzsimons CP, Martín GA, Bergoc RM. Histamine as an autocrine growth factor: an unusual role for a widespread mediator. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2000;10(1):15-23.
- 36. Theoharides TC, Conti P. Mast cells: the Jekyll and Hyde of tumor growth. *Trends Immunol.* 2004;25(5):235-41.
- Wang M, Wei X, Shi L, Chen B, Zhao G, Yang H. Integrative genomic analyses of the histamine H1 receptor and its role in cancer prediction. *Int J Mol Med.* 2014;33(4):1019-26.
- Devillier P, Roche N, Faisy C. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of desloratadine, fexofenadine and levocetirizine : a comparative review. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2008;47(4):217-30.
- 39. Wu RL, Anthes JC, Kreutner W, Harris AG, West RE, Jr. Desloratadine inhibits constitutive and histamine-stimulated nuclear factor-kappaB activity consistent with inverse agonism at the histamine H1 Receptor. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 2004;135(4):313-8.
- 40. Anthes JC, Gilchrest H, Richard C, Eckel S, Hesk D, West RE, Jr., et al. Biochemical characterization of desloratadine, a potent antagonist of the human histamine H(1) receptor. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2002;449(3):229-37.
- 41. Levi-Schaffer F, Eliashar R. Mast cell stabilizing properties of antihistamines. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2009;129(11):2549-51.
- 42. Weller K, Maurer M. Desloratadine inhibits human skin mast cell activation and histamine release. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2009;129(11):2723-6.
- 43. Marichal T, Tsai M, Galli SJ. Mast cells: potential positive and negative roles in tumor biology. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2013;1(5):269-79.
- 44. Eissmann MF, Dijkstra C, Jarnicki A, Phesse T, Brunnberg J, Poh AR, et al. IL-33mediated mast cell activation promotes gastric cancer through macrophage mobilization. *Nat Commun.* 2019;10(1):2735.
- 45. Hayes MD, Ward S, Crawford G, Seoane RC, Jackson WD, Kipling D, et al. Inflammation-induced IgE promotes epithelial hyperplasia and tumour growth. *Elife*. 2020;9.
- Ch'ng S, Wallis RA, Yuan L, Davis PF, Tan ST. Mast cells and cutaneous malignancies. *Mod Pathol.* 2006;19(1):149-59.
- 47. Hodges K, Kennedy L, Meng F, Alpini G, Francis H. Mast cells, disease and gastrointestinal cancer: A comprehensive review of recent findings. *Transl Gastrointest Cancer*. 2012;1(2):138-50.
- 48. Kessler DA, Langer RS, Pless NA, Folkman J. Mast cells and tumor angiogenesis. *Int J Cancer*. 1976;18(5):703-9.
- 49. Amini RM, Aaltonen K, Nevanlinna H, Carvalho R, Salonen L, Heikkilä P, et al. Mast cells and eosinophils in invasive breast carcinoma. *BMC Cancer*. 2007;7:165.
- 50. Beer TW, Ng LB, Murray K. Mast cells have prognostic value in Merkel cell carcinoma. *Am J Dermatopathol.* 2008;30(1):27-30.

- 51. Keresztes K, Szollosi Z, Simon Z, Tarkanyi I, Nemes Z, Illes A. Retrospective analysis of the prognostic role of tissue eosinophil and mast cells in Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Pathol Oncol Res.* 2007;13(3):237-42.
- 52. Tian X, Xu W, Wang Y, Anwaier A, Wang H, Wan F, et al. Identification of tumorinfiltrating immune cells and prognostic validation of tumor-infiltrating mast cells in adrenocortical carcinoma: results from bioinformatics and real-world data. *OncoImmunology*. 2020;9(1):1784529.
- 53. Blankenstein T, Coulie PG, Gilboa E, Jaffee EM. The determinants of tumour immunogenicity. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2012;12(4):307-13.
- 54. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2012;12(4):252-64.
- 55. Buchbinder EI, Desai A. CTLA-4 and PD-1 Pathways: Similarities, Differences, and Implications of Their Inhibition. *Am J Clin Oncol.* 2016;39(1):98-106.
- 56. Bilusic M, Madan RA, Gulley JL. Immunotherapy of Prostate Cancer: Facts and Hopes. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2017;23(22):6764-70.
- 57. Chen L, Han X. Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy of human cancer: past, present, and future. *J Clin Invest.* 2015;125(9):3384-91.
- 58. Comiskey MC, Dallos MC, Drake CG. Immunotherapy in Prostate Cancer: Teaching an Old Dog New Tricks. *Curr Oncol Rep.* 2018;20(9):75.
- 59. Doo DW, Norian LA, Arend RC. Checkpoint inhibitors in ovarian cancer: A review of preclinical data. *Gynecol Oncol Rep.* 2019;29:48-54.
- 60. Ganesh K, Stadler ZK, Cercek A, Mendelsohn RB, Shia J, Segal NH, et al. Immunotherapy in colorectal cancer: rationale, challenges and potential. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2019;16(6):361-75.
- 61. Johansson H, Andersson R, Bauden M, Hammes S, Holdenrieder S, Ansari D. Immune checkpoint therapy for pancreatic cancer. *World J Gastroenterol.* 2016;22(43):9457-76.
- 62. Kelly RJ. Immunotherapy for Esophageal and Gastric Cancer. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book*. 2017;37:292-300.
- 63. Moy RH, Younes A. Immune Checkpoint Inhibition in Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Hemasphere*. 2018;2(1):e20.
- 64. Annunziato F, Romagnani S. Heterogeneity of human effector CD4+T cells. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2009;11(6):1-8.
- 65. Romagnani S. Th1/Th2 cells. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 1999;5(4):285-94.
- 66. Packard KA, Khan MM. Effects of histamine on Th1/Th2 cytokine balance. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2003;3(7):909-20.
- 67. Caron G, Delneste Y, Roelandts E, Duez C, Bonnefoy JY, Pestel J, et al. Histamine polarizes human dendritic cells into Th2 cell-promoting effector dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* 2001;167(7):3682-6.
- 68. McIlroy A, Caron G, Blanchard S, Frémaux I, Duluc D, Delneste Y, et al. Histamine and prostaglandin E up-regulate the production of Th2-attracting chemokines (CCL17 and CCL22) and down-regulate IFN-gamma-induced CXCL10 production by immature human dendritic cells. *Immunology*. 2006;117(4):507-16.
- 69. Martin RK, Saleem SJ, Folgosa L, Zellner HB, Damle SR, Nguyen GK, et al. Mast cell histamine promotes the immunoregulatory activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2014;96(1):151-9.

- 70. Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Fredriksen T, Mauger S, Bindea G, et al. Clinical impact of different classes of infiltrating T cytotoxic and helper cells (Th1, th2, treg, th17) in patients with colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2011;71(4):1263-71.
- 71. Disney-Hogg L, Cornish AJ, Sud A, Law PJ, Kinnersley B, Jacobs DI, et al. Impact of atopy on risk of glioma: a Mendelian randomisation study. *BMC Med.* 2018;16(1):42.
- 72. Elmasri WM, Tran TH, Mulla ZD. A case-control study of asthma and ovarian cancer. *Arch Environ Occup Health.* 2010;65(2):101-5.
- 73. Eriksson NE, Holmén A, Högstedt B, Mikoczy Z, Hagmar L. A prospective study of cancer incidence in a cohort examined for allergy. *Allergy*. 1995;50(9):718.
- 74. Eriksson NE, Mikoczy Z, Hagmar L. Cancer incidence in 13811 patients skin tested for allergy. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol.* 2005;15(3):161-6.
- 75. Hemminki K, Forsti A, Fallah M, Sundquist J, Sundquist K, Ji J. Risk of cancer in patients with medically diagnosed hay fever or allergic rhinitis. *Int J Cancer*. 2014;135(10):2397-403.
- Huang BZ, Le Marchand L, Haiman CA, Monroe KR, Wilkens LR, Zhang ZF, et al. Atopic allergic conditions and pancreatic cancer risk: Results from the Multiethnic Cohort Study. *Int J Cancer*. 2018;142(10):2019-27.
- 77. Jo S, Kim TJ, Lee H, Min YW, Min BH, Lee JH, et al. Associations between Atopic Dermatitis and Risk of Gastric Cancer: A Nationwide Population-based Study. *Korean J Gastroenterol.* 2018;71(1):38-44.
- 78. Johnson LG, Schwartz SM, Malkki M, Du Q, Petersdorf EW, Galloway DA, et al. Risk of cervical cancer associated with allergies and polymorphisms in genes in the chromosome 5 cytokine cluster. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2011;20(1):199-207.
- 79. Josephs DH, Spicer JF, Corrigan CJ, Gould HJ, Karagiannis SN. Epidemiological associations of allergy, IgE and cancer. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2013;43(10):1110-23.
- 80. Kantor ED, Hsu M, Du M, Signorello LB. Allergies and Asthma in Relation to Cancer Risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2019;28(8):1395-403.
- 81. Li W, Mao S, Tu M, Ge X, Li K, Xie F, et al. Asthma and the risk of prostate cancer. *J Cancer Res Ther.* 2018;14(Supplement):S571-s5.
- 82. Marasigan V, Morren MA, Lambert J, Medaer K, Fieuws S, Nijsten T, et al. Inverse Association Between Atopy and Melanoma: A Case-control Study. *Acta Derm Venereol*. 2017;97(1):54-7.
- 83. Melbye M, Smedby KE, Lehtinen T, Rostgaard K, Glimelius B, Munksgaard L, et al. Atopy and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2007;99(2):158-66.
- Muskens IS, Zhou M, McCoy L, Bracci PM, Hansen HM, Gauderman WJ, et al. Immune factors preceding diagnosis of glioma: a Prostate Lung Colorectal Ovarian Cancer Screening Trial nested case-control study. *Neurooncol Adv.* 2019;1(1):vdz031.
- 85. Qu YL, Liu J, Zhang LX, Wu CM, Chu AJ, Wen BL, et al. Asthma and the risk of lung cancer: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(7):11614-20.
- 86. Rittmeyer D, Lorentz A. Relationship between allergy and cancer: an overview. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 2012;159(3):216-25.
- 87. Sherman PW, Holland E, Sherman JS. Allergies: their role in cancer prevention. *Q Rev Biol.* 2008;83(4):339-62.
- 88. Turner MC. Epidemiology: allergy history, IgE, and cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2012;61(9):1493-510.

- 89. Wang H, Diepgen TL. Is atopy a protective or a risk factor for cancer? A review of epidemiological studies. *Allergy*. 2005;60(9):1098-111.
- 90. Einefors R, Kogler U, Ellberg C, Olsson H. Autoimmune diseases and hypersensitivities improve the prognosis in ER-negative breast cancer. *Springerplus*. 2013;2:357.
- 91. Knuiman MW, James AL, Divitini ML, Ryan G, Bartholomew HC, Musk AW. Lung function, respiratory symptoms, and mortality: results from the Busselton Health Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* 1999;9(5):297-306.
- 92. Lange P, Ulrik CS. Mortality in adults with self-reported asthma. *Lancet*. 1996;347(9011):1285.
- 93. Olson SH, Chou JF, Ludwig E, O'Reilly E, Allen PJ, Jarnagin WR, et al. Allergies, obesity, other risk factors and survival from pancreatic cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2010;127(10):2412-9.
- 94. Pompei R, Lampis G, Ingianni A, Nonnis D, Ionta MT, Massidda B. Allergy and tumour outcome after primary cancer therapy. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 2004;133(2):174-8.
- 95. Taghizadeh N, Vonk JM, Hospers JJ, Postma DS, de Vries EG, Schouten JP, et al. Objective allergy markers and risk of cancer mortality and hospitalization in a large population-based cohort. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2015;26(1):99-109.
- 96. Turner MC, Chen Y, Krewski D, Ghadirian P, Thun MJ, Calle EE. Cancer Mortality among US Men and Women with Asthma and Hay Fever. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2005;162(3):212-21.
- 97. Vandentorren S, Baldi I, Annesi Maesano I, Charpin D, Neukirch F, Filleul L, et al. Long-term mortality among adults with or without asthma in the PAARC study. *Eur Respir J*. 2003;21(3):462-7.
- 98. Wrensch M, Wiencke JK, Wiemels J, Miike R, Patoka J, Moghadassi M, et al. Serum IgE, tumor epidermal growth factor receptor expression, and inherited polymorphisms associated with glioma survival. *Cancer Res.* 2006;66(8):4531-41.
- 99. Cotterchio M, Lowcock E, Hudson TJ, Greenwood C, Gallinger S. Association between allergies and risk of pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2014;23(3):469-80.
- 100. Brandes LJ, Warrington RC, Arron RJ, Bogdanovic RP, Fang W, Queen GM, et al. Enhanced cancer growth in mice administered daily human-equivalent doses of some H1-antihistamines: predictive in vitro correlates. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1994;86(10):770-5.
- 101. Kurokawa M, Futamura Y, Obata M, Shibutani Y. Re: Enhanced cancer growth in mice administered daily human-equivalent doses of some H1-antihistamines: predictive in vitro correlates. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1995;87(21):1638-9.
- 102. Kelly JP, Rosenberg L, Palmer JR, Rao RS, Strom BL, Stolley PD, et al. Risk of breast cancer according to use of antidepressants, phenothiazines, and antihistamines. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1999;150(8):861-8.
- 103. Nadalin V, Cotterchio M, Kreiger N. Antihistamine use and breast cancer risk. *Int J Cancer*. 2003;106(4):566-8.
- 104. Weiss SR, McFarland BH, Burkhart GA, Ho PT. Cancer recurrences and secondary primary cancers after use of antihistamines or antidepressants. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 1998;63(5):594-9.

- 105. Selby JV, Friedman GD, Fireman BH. Screening prescription drugs for possible carcinogenicity: eleven to fifteen years of follow-up. *Cancer Res.* 1989;49(20):5736-47.
- 106. Erber E, Lim U, Maskarinec G, Kolonel LN. Common immune-related risk factors and incident non-Hodgkin lymphoma: the multiethnic cohort. *Int J Cancer*. 2009;125(6):1440-5.
- 107. Scheurer ME, El-Zein R, Thompson PA, Aldape KD, Levin VA, Gilbert MR, et al. Long-term anti-inflammatory and antihistamine medication use and adult glioma risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2008;17(5):1277-81.
- 108. Schoemaker MJ, Swerdlow AJ, Hepworth SJ, McKinney PA, van Tongeren M, Muir KR. History of allergies and risk of glioma in adults. *Int J Cancer*. 2006;119(9):2165-72.
- 109. Verdoodt F, Pottegård A, Dehlendorff C, Jäättelä M, Hallas J, Friis S, et al. Antihistamine use and risk of ovarian cancer: A population-based case-control study. *Maturitas*. 2019;120:47-52.
- 110. Armitage JO, Sidner RD. Antitumour effect of cimetidine. Lancet. 1979;1(8121):882-3.
- 111. Barkla DH, Tutton PJ. Cytotoxicity of cyproheptadine and methysergide to chemically induced carcinomas of rat colon. *Br J Cancer*. 1977;36(6):814-7.
- 112. Deva S, Jameson M. Histamine type 2 receptor antagonists as adjuvant treatment for resected colorectal cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2012(8):Cd007814.
- 113. Nee J, O'Higgins N, Osborne DH, Purdy S. The role of histamine antagonists on the development of experimental cancer in the rat. *Ir J Med Sci.* 1984;153(10):332-5.
- 114. Gómez-Fabre PM, de Pedro E, Medina MA, Núñez de Castro I, Márquez J. Polyamine contents of human breast cancer cells treated with the cytotoxic agents chlorpheniramine and dehydrodidemnin B. *Cancer Lett.* 1997;113(1-2):141-4.
- 115. Urdiales JL, Matés JM, Núñez de Castro I, Sánchez-Jiménez FM. Chlorpheniramine inhibits the ornithine decarboxylase induction of Ehrlich carcinoma growing in vivo. *FEBS Lett.* 1992;305(3):260-4.
- 116. Bernal-Ramos G, Hernández-Gallegos E, Vera E, Chávez-López MG, Zúñiga-García V, Sánchez-Pérez Y, et al. Astemizole inhibits cell proliferation in human prostate tumorigenic cells expressing ether à-go-go-1 potassium channels. *Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-legrand)*. 2017;63(12):11-3.
- 117. Chávez-López MG, Hernández-Gallegos E, Vázquez-Sánchez AY, Gariglio P, Camacho J. Antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects of astemizole on cervical cancer cells. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2014;24(5):824-8.
- 118. Chávez-López MG, Pérez-Carreón JI, Zuñiga-García V, Díaz-Chávez J, Herrera LA, Caro-Sánchez CH, et al. Astemizole-based anticancer therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and Eag1 channels as potential early-stage markers of HCC. *Tumour Biol.* 2015;36(8):6149-58.
- 119. Chávez-López MG, Zúñiga-García V, Hernández-Gallegos E, Vera E, Chasiquiza-Anchatuña CA, Viteri-Yánez M, et al. The combination astemizole-gefitinib as a potential therapy for human lung cancer. *Onco Targets Ther.* 2017;10:5795-803.
- 120. Díaz L, Ceja-Ochoa I, Restrepo-Angulo I, Larrea F, Avila-Chávez E, García-Becerra R, et al. Estrogens and human papilloma virus oncogenes regulate human ether-à-go-go-1 potassium channel expression. *Cancer Res.* 2009;69(8):3300-7.

- 121. Downie BR, Sánchez A, Knötgen H, Contreras-Jurado C, Gymnopoulos M, Weber C, et al. Eag1 expression interferes with hypoxia homeostasis and induces angiogenesis in tumors. *J Biol Chem.* 2008;283(52):36234-40.
- 122. García-Becerra R, Díaz L, Camacho J, Barrera D, Ordaz-Rosado D, Morales A, et al. Calcitriol inhibits Ether-à go-go potassium channel expression and cell proliferation in human breast cancer cells. *Exp Cell Res.* 2010;316(3):433-42.
- 123. García-Quiroz J, García-Becerra R, Barrera D, Santos N, Avila E, Ordaz-Rosado D, et al. Astemizole synergizes calcitriol antiproliferative activity by inhibiting CYP24A1 and upregulating VDR: a novel approach for breast cancer therapy. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(9):e45063.
- 124. García-Quiroz J, García-Becerra R, Santos-Martínez N, Barrera D, Ordaz-Rosado D, Avila E, et al. In vivo dual targeting of the oncogenic Ether-à-go-go-1 potassium channel by calcitriol and astemizole results in enhanced antineoplastic effects in breast tumors. *BMC Cancer*. 2014;14:745.
- 125. García-Quiroz J, González-González ME, Díaz L, Ordaz-Rosado D, Segovia-Mendoza M, Prado-García H, et al. Astemizole , an inhibitor of ether-à-go-go-1 potassium channel, increases the activity of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor gefitinib in breast cancer cells. *Rev Invest Clin.* 2019;71(3):186-94.
- 126. Jangi SM, Díaz-Pérez JL, Ochoa-Lizarralde B, Martín-Ruiz I, Asumendi A, Pérez-Yarza G, et al. H1 histamine receptor antagonists induce genotoxic and caspase-2-dependent apoptosis in human melanoma cells. *Carcinogenesis*. 2006;27(9):1787-96.
- 127. Laverdière I, Boileau M, Neumann AL, Frison H, Mitchell A, Ng SWK, et al. Leukemic stem cell signatures identify novel therapeutics targeting acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Cancer J.* 2018;8(6):52.
- 128. Lyu J, Yang EJ, Head SA, Ai N, Zhang B, Wu C, et al. Astemizole Inhibits mTOR Signaling and Angiogenesis by Blocking Cholesterol Trafficking. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2018;14(10):1175-85.
- 129. Ouadid-Ahidouch H, Roudbaraki M, Delcourt P, Ahidouch A, Joury N, Prevarskaya N. Functional and molecular identification of intermediate-conductance Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channels in breast cancer cells: association with cell cycle progression. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2004;287(1):C125-34.
- 130. Roy J, Vantol B, Cowley EA, Blay J, Linsdell P. Pharmacological separation of hEAG and hERG K+ channel function in the human mammary carcinoma cell line MCF-7. *Oncol Rep.* 2008;19(6):1511-6.
- 131. Chen JS, Lin SY, Tso WL, Yeh GC, Lee WS, Tseng H, et al. Checkpoint kinase 1mediated phosphorylation of Cdc25C and bad proteins are involved in antitumor effects of loratadine-induced G2/M phase cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis. *Mol Carcinog*. 2006;45(7):461-78.
- 132. Chen T, Hu Y, Liu B, Huang X, Li Q, Gao N, et al. Combining thioridazine and loratadine for the treatment of gastrointestinal tumor. *Oncol Lett.* 2017;14(4):4573-80.
- 133. Desai P, Wang KZ, Ann D, Wang J, Prabhu S. Efficacy and Pharmacokinetic Considerations of Loratadine Nanoformulations and its Combinations for Pancreatic Cancer Chemoprevention. *Pharm Res.* 2020;37(2):21.

- 134. Hadzijusufovic E, Peter B, Gleixner KV, Schuch K, Pickl WF, Thaiwong T, et al. H1receptor antagonists terfenadine and loratadine inhibit spontaneous growth of neoplastic mast cells. *Exp Hematol.* 2010;38(10):896-907.
- 135. Soule BP, Simone NL, DeGraff WG, Choudhuri R, Cook JA, Mitchell JB. Loratadine dysregulates cell cycle progression and enhances the effect of radiation in human tumor cell lines. *Radiat Oncol.* 2010;5:8.
- 136. Lampiasi N, Azzolina A, Montalto G, Cervello M. Histamine and spontaneously released mast cell granules affect the cell growth of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Exp Mol Med.* 2007;39(3):284-94.
- 137. Nicolau-Galmés F, Asumendi A, Alonso-Tejerina E, Pérez-Yarza G, Jangi SM, Gardeazabal J, et al. Terfenadine induces apoptosis and autophagy in melanoma cells through ROS-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Apoptosis*. 2011;16(12):1253-67.
- 138. Varbanov HP, Kuttler F, Banfi D, Turcatti G, Dyson PJ. Screening-based approach to discover effective platinum-based chemotherapies for cancers with poor prognosis. *PLoS One.* 2019;14(1):e0211268.
- 139. Döbbeling U, Waeckerle-Men Y, Zabel F, Graf N, Kündig TM, Johansen P. The antihistamines clemastine and desloratadine inhibit STAT3 and c-Myc activities and induce apoptosis in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma cell lines. *Exp Dermatol.* 2013;22(2):119-24.
- 140. Fagone P, Caltabiano R, Russo A, Lupo G, Anfuso CD, Basile MS, et al. Identification of novel chemotherapeutic strategies for metastatic uveal melanoma. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7:44564.
- 141. Schmeel LC, Schmeel FC, Kim Y, Blaum-Feder S, Endo T, Schmidt-Wolf IG. In vitro efficacy of cinnarizine against lymphoma and multiple myeloma. *Anticancer Res.* 2015;35(2):835-41.
- 142. Feng YM, Feng CW, Chen SY, Hsieh HY, Chen YH, Hsu CD. Cyproheptadine, an antihistaminic drug, inhibits proliferation of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by blocking cell cycle progression through the activation of P38 MAP kinase. *BMC Cancer*. 2015;15:134.
- 143. Li J, Cao B, Zhou S, Zhu J, Zhang Z, Hou T, et al. Cyproheptadine-induced myeloma cell apoptosis is associated with inhibition of the PI3K/AKT signaling. *Eur J Haematol.* 2013;91(6):514-21.
- 144. Mao X, Liang SB, Hurren R, Gronda M, Chow S, Xu GW, et al. Cyproheptadine displays preclinical activity in myeloma and leukemia. *Blood.* 2008;112(3):760-9.
- 145. Paoluzzi L, Scotto L, Marchi E, Seshan VE, O'Connor OA. The anti-histaminic cyproheptadine synergizes the antineoplastic activity of bortezomib in mantle cell lymphoma through its effects as a histone deacetylase inhibitor. *Br J Haematol.* 2009;146(6):656-9.
- 146. Kim HJ, Park MK, Kim SY, Lee CH. Novel Suppressive Effects of Ketotifen on Migration and Invasion of MDA-MB-231 and HT-1080 Cancer Cells. *Biomol Ther (Seoul).* 2014;22(6):540-6.
- 147. Lin JC, Ho YS, Lee JJ, Liu CL, Yang TL, Wu CH. Induction of apoptosis and cell-cycle arrest in human colon cancer cells by meclizine. *Food Chem Toxicol*. 2007;45(6):935-44.

- 148. Ma J, Qi J, Li S, Zhang C, Wang H, Shao L, et al. Desloratadine, a Novel Antigrowth Reagent for Bladder Cancer. *Technol Cancer Res Treat*. 2020;19:1533033820926591.
- 149. Lin X, Zhang J, Wang X, Lin G, Chen T. Pre-activation with TLR7 in combination with thioridazine and loratadine promotes tumoricidal T-cell activity in colorectal cancer. *Anticancer Drugs*. 2020.
- 150. Olsson HL, Einefors R, Broberg P. Second generation antihistamines after breast cancer diagnosis to improve prognosis both in patients with ER+ and ER- breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015;33(15_suppl):3062-.
- 151. Ellegaard AM, Dehlendorff C, Vind AC, Anand A, Cederkvist L, Petersen NHT, et al. Repurposing Cationic Amphiphilic Antihistamines for Cancer Treatment. *EBioMedicine*. 2016;9:130-9.
- 152. Verdoodt F, Dehlendorff C, Jäättelä M, Strauss R, Pottegård A, Hallas J, et al. Antihistamines and ovarian cancer survival: nationwide cohort study and in vitro cell viability assay. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2019.
- 153. Lin HL, Lin HC, Tseng YF, Chen SC, Hsu CY. Risk of parkinsonism induced by flunarizine or cinnarizine: a population-based study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;73(3):365-71.
- 154. Izumi-Nakaseko H, Nakamura Y, Cao X, Wada T, Ando K, Sugiyama A. Possibility as an anti-cancer drug of astemizole: Evaluation of arrhythmogenicity by the chronic atrioventricular block canine model. *J Pharmacol Sci.* 2016;131(2):150-3.
- 155. Barlow L, Westergren K, Holmberg L, Talbäck M. The completeness of the Swedish Cancer Register: a sample survey for year 1998. *Acta Oncol.* 2009;48(1):27-33.
- 156. Olsson H, Baldetorp B, Fernö M, Perfekt R. Relation between the rate of tumour cell proliferation and latency time in radiation associated breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*. 2003;3:11.
- 157. Andersson R, Pereira CF, Bauden M, Ansari D. Is immunotherapy the holy grail for pancreatic cancer? *Immunotherapy*. 2019;11(17):1435-8.
- 158. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M, SpringerLink. Survival Analysis. [Electronic resource] A Self-Learning Text, Third Edition: Springer New York; 2012.
- 159. Rao SR, Schoenfeld DA. Survival Methods. Circulation. 2007;115(1):109-13.
- 160. Schober P, Vetter TR. Survival Analysis and Interpretation of Time-to-Event Data: The Tortoise and the Hare. *Anesth Analg.* 2018;127(3):792-8.
- 161. Gasparrini A. Modeling exposure-lag-response associations with distributed lag nonlinear models. *Stat Med.* 2014;33(5):881-99.
- 162. R Core Team. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2019.
- 163. Hughes IA, Houk C, Ahmed SF, Lee PA. Consensus statement on management of intersex disorders. *Arch Dis Child*. 2006;91(7):554-63.
- 164. Reisner SL, Poteat T, Keatley J, Cabral M, Mothopeng T, Dunham E, et al. Global health burden and needs of transgender populations: a review. *Lancet*. 2016;388(10042):412-36.
- 165. Austin PC, Lee DS, Fine JP. Introduction to the Analysis of Survival Data in the Presence of Competing Risks. *Circulation*. 2016;133(6):601-9.
- 166. Cespedes Feliciano EM, Prentice RL, Aragaki AK, Neuhouser ML, Banack HR, Kroenke CH, et al. Methodological considerations for disentangling a risk factor's influence on

disease incidence versus postdiagnosis survival: The example of obesity and breast and colorectal cancer mortality in the Women's Health Initiative. *Int J Cancer*. 2017;141(11):2281-90.

- 167. Lajous M, Bijon A, Fagherazzi G, Boutron-Ruault MC, Balkau B, Clavel-Chapelon F, et al. Body mass index, diabetes, and mortality in French women: explaining away a "paradox". *Epidemiology*. 2014;25(1):10-4.
- 168. Sperrin M, Candlish J, Badrick E, Renehan A, Buchan I. Collider Bias Is Only a Partial Explanation for the Obesity Paradox. *Epidemiology*. 2016;27(4):525-30.
- 169. Whitcomb BW, McArdle PF. Collider-stratification Bias Due to Censoring in Prospective Cohort Studies. *Epidemiology*. 2016;27(2):e4-5.
- 170. Agarwal P, Moshier E, Ru M, Ohri N, Ennis R, Rosenzweig K, et al. Immortal Time Bias in Observational Studies of Time-to-Event Outcomes: Assessing Effects of Postmastectomy Radiation Therapy Using the National Cancer Database. *Cancer Control.* 2018;25(1):1073274818789355.
- 171. Shariff SZ, Cuerden MS, Jain AK, Garg AX. The secret of immortal time bias in epidemiologic studies. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2008;19(5):841-3.
- 172. Johnston PA, Grandis JR. STAT3 signaling: anticancer strategies and challenges. *Mol Interv*. 2011;11(1):18-26.
- 173. Crawford G, Hayes MD, Seoane RC, Ward S, Dalessandri T, Lai C, et al. Epithelial damage and tissue γδ T cells promote a unique tumor-protective IgE response. *Nat Immunol.* 2018;19(8):859-70.
- 174. Aits S, Jäättelä M. Lysosomal cell death at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2013;126(Pt 9):1905-12.
- 175. Serrano-Puebla A, Boya P. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization as a cell death mechanism in cancer cells. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 2018;46(2):207-15.
- 176. Kuzu OF, Toprak M, Noory MA, Robertson GP. Effect of lysosomotropic molecules on cellular homeostasis. *Pharmacol Res.* 2017;117:177-84.
- 177. McKinney AJ, Holmen SL. Animal models of melanoma: a somatic cell gene delivery mouse model allows rapid evaluation of genes implicated in human melanoma. *Chin J Cancer*. 2011;30(3):153-62.
- 178. Saleh J. Murine models of melanoma. Pathol Res Pract. 2018;214(9):1235-8.
- 179. Verbaanderd C, Meheus L, Huys I, Pantziarka P. Repurposing Drugs in Oncology: Next Steps. *Trends Cancer*. 2017;3(8):543-6.